101359-1

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 10/11/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON gton CLERK PM

No. 83435-5-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

## SCOTT LEE GRIEBEN,

Respondent,

v.

#### SHAWN SUZANNE AUSTIN,

Petitioner.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gary W. Manca, WSBA #42798 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorney for Petitioner Shawn Austin

#

#### A. INTRODUCTION

This petition concerns the intersection between two family laws-the spousal-maintenance statute (RCW 26.09.090) and the modification statute (RCW 26.09.170). The maintenance statute authorizes a dissolution court to award maintenance if doing so would be "just" after considering "all relevant factors." These factors include the recipient's age, health, and the parties' standard of living. Once a maintenance award is entered, the modification statute allows a trial court to modify it only "upon a showing of a substantial change in circumstances." The term "circumstances" is undefined. But, these statutes, when read together, mean that a modification court must consider the same relevant factors that determined the original maintenance award to determine whether a change has happened.

Division I rejected that reading, holding instead that a recipient must show a change in her bare financial necessities or the payor's financial capacity. Op. at 10-14. That narrow—and erroneous—interpretation resurrects an outdated conception of alimony that the Legislature discarded long ago. It also clashes with *Washburn v. Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 168, 677 P.2d 152 (1984), which recognized the effect of the Legislature's reforms. And it conflicts with Division II's opinion holding that a modification court should consider a broader set of "circumstances"—namely, the maintenance statute's factors for the initial award. *In re Marriage of Scholl*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1027, 2020 WL 1930215 at \*2, \*4 (2020) (unpublished). This split leaves everyone to guess the right standard to apply to the hundreds of modification petitions decided annually. This Court needs to step in.

This Court should accept review also to provide clear rules for how a modification court determines what counts as "change" under RCW 26.09.170(1). On that issue, Division I gave license for trial courts to speculate about what was expected would happen in the future. Division I's permissive framework inadvertently allows gamesmanship among divorcing spouses. Spouses in divorce cases need clear rules when negotiating settlements, and trial courts do too when drafting their findings and conclusions.

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Shawn Austin, who sought a modification of the dissolution court's maintenance award.

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Austin asks this Court to accept review of Division I's unpublished opinion ("Op."), filed on September 12, 2022. *See* A-5 through A-23.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether, on a petition to modify spousal maintenance under RCW 26.09.170(1), the factors listed in the maintenance statute, RCW 26.09.090(1), including the health of the recipient, are relevant "circumstances" to consider when a trial court decides if a "substantial change" has occurred since the original award.

2. Whether a dissolution court must find that its maintenance award contemplates a future event—such as the

recipient's worsening health or the payor's increase in income for that future event to be excluded from counting as a "change" that would later justify modification under RCW 26.09.170(1).

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## (1) <u>The Wife Received an Award of Spousal</u> <u>Maintenance in the Original Dissolution Case</u>

Scott Grieben and Shawn Austin divorced in late 2014 after a 22-year marriage. CP 1-2, 5, 12. The couple raised two kids, following a traditional model—Grieben worked, and Austin did not. CP 35, 51. Once their children were grown Grieben petitioned for dissolution. CP 1, 35.

At the time, Austin struggled with her health. CP 52, 1447-49. Her conditions included hearing loss, an autoimmune disease, degenerative disc disease, migraines, and mental-health disorders. CP 1447-49. She had seen doctors for these conditions and participated in psychotherapy. *Id*.

Grieben earned \$782,711 in 2012 through his businesses, but he swore that "there will not be the kind of money that has been generated the last two years." CP 79-80, 140. He attested in June 2014 that his income in 2013 had been \$385,000 and was on a similar pace in 2014—in line with his claims of decreasing income. CP 176.

When the parties agreed to settle, the dissolution court adopted their agreed findings and conclusions. CP 11-17. (The record contains no oral ruling.) The decree distributed the parties' property. CP 6-8. According to Grieben, Austin received property worth \$1,632,059. CP 140. But the correct number, Austin later explained, was \$1,005,060. CP 165-69. Grieben valued the property he received at \$1,720,659, less \$374,000 in equalizing payments, but the true value was \$2,238,917, according to Austin. CP 140, 165-69, 183-240.

The decree also provided for spousal maintenance. CP 8. Grieben paid \$8,300 monthly, with the amount declining until reaching zero at the end of 2021. *Id.* The only specific finding to justify this award was that Grieben "has a substantial income." CP 14. Otherwise, the findings merely quoted the factors in RCW 26.09.090(1)(b)-(f). CP 13-14. The findings said nothing about the parties' standard of living during the marriage, about Austin's quality of life, her health, or her earning capacity. *Id.* The findings also said nothing about what the parties expected to happen in the future with their health, finances, and other circumstances. *Id.* 

(2) After the Dissolution, the Wife Suffered Deteriorating Health, While the Husband Raked in \$2.7 Million Despite Having Sworn to the Trial Court that His Income Would Go Down

After the divorce, Austin's preexisting health problems deteriorated, and she "developed several new medical conditions." CP 38. Her new conditions included myocardial infarction (death of heart muscle), fainting and falling spells, fibromyalgia (a musculoskeletal pain disorder), essential tremor (a neurological disorder resembling Parkinson's disease), essential myoclonus (involuntary muscle jerking), acute kidney injury, and cataracts. CP 28, 38; *compare also* CP 1447-49; *with* CP 524-27. Her fainting and falling resulted in her rotator cuff ripping from her bone. CP 38. By summer 2020, Austin's doctor found that "[m]any of her underlying conditions have arisen, or worsened considerably, in the last 2-3 years." CP 28. Her doctor also certified that she needed a service dog. CP 174.

Meanwhile, Austin unexpectedly had to care for both her father, who became ill with cancer, and her stepmother, who suffered from dementia (both have since died, unfortunately). CP 242. While caregiving, Austin struggled to find work but took a part-time job selling windows. CP 37. She lost that position in early 2020 after two kidney failures led to her missing time. CP 37-38, 75. Her doctor then concluded that her conditions prevented her from working. CP 28, 39.

As Austin's health failed, Grieben earned \$2.7 million in 2015-19 (\$540,331.80 annually, on average). CP 140. Those earnings boosted his income by 40.35% above the 2013 level that he had reported in June 2014. *Compare* CP 140; *with* CP 176.

(3) <u>The Trial Court Refused to Modify Maintenance</u>

Austin petitioned the trial court in summer 2020 to modify spousal maintenance under RCW 26.09.170, claiming a change in circumstances. CP 19-22. She filed letters from her doctor and hundreds of pages of medical records. CP 28, 39, 174, 352-1443, 1661-1822. Grieben conceded that the statutory factors in the maintenance statute, RCW 26.09.090(1), applied to Austin's request. CP 143 (stating that "[t]he factors set forth in the maintenance statute ... *are the same in a modification of maintenance as they are in an original proceeding*" (emphasis added)). And Austin agreed. CP 160-71.

Grieben moved to dismiss. Though the parties had agreed the factors in the maintenance statute applied, the court ignored them. *Compare* 12/4/20 RP 1-25; *with* CP 143; *and* CP 160-61. The court considered just two circumstances—"the financial needs of the recipient [Austin]," and whether "[Grieben's] income has increased." *Id.* at 20, 22. The court considered Austin's health only in connection with her "financial needs." *Id.* at 22. The court dismissed Austin's petition. CP 280.

> (4) Division I Held the Maintenance Statute Does Not Apply When Determining Whether Circumstances Have Changed, and the Court Speculated About What the Parties Had Contemplated Would Happen

> Division I affirmed. On appeal, Grieben reversed himself,

now arguing that the factors set out in the maintenance statute do *not* apply to the threshold determination under the modification statute. See Br. of Resp't at 17-24. The panel agreed: "the [trial] court used the correct legal standard when it evaluated whether there was a substantial change in circumstances under RCW 26.09.170 without conducting an analysis of RCW 26.09.090." Op. at 14. The panel affirmed the trial court's construction of the maintenance statute-the relevant "circumstances" are only "the financial needs of the recipient" and "the financial ability of the obligator." Id. at 12 (quoting record). But the panel mentioned neither this Court's opinion in Washburn nor Division II's decision in Scholl, 2020 WL 1930215. Having rejected a spouse's worsened health as an independent ground for modification, the panel brushed aside Austin's medical problems because her employment prospects had always been "bleak." Op. at 18.

Next, the panel acknowledged the rule that a "change" occurs under RCW 26.09.170(1) when the circumstances

presented in a modification petition were "not within the contemplation of the parties at the time the decree was entered." Op. at 11 (citing Wagner v. Wagner, 95 Wn.2d 94, 98, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980)). But the panel rejected Austin's argument "that the trial court could only determine what the parties contemplated if it was expressly stated in the dissolution court's findings of fact." Op. at 16-17. The panel believed that it could rely on the raw evidence in the record and on the dissolution court's general findings from 2014, which had merely recited verbatim the factors in RCW 26.09.090(1) without specifying any facts of this individual case. Op. at 17. Based on this loose framework for gleaning whether a "change" occurred, the panel said that all the changes had been "anticipated." Id. at 18.

This timely petition followed.

# F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

While a trial court has discretion whether to modify spousal maintenance, this petition presents questions about the legal framework that curbs that discretion. This Court decides *de novo* the correct legal standard for a trial court to apply when exercising its discretion. *Gildon v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc.*, 158 Wn.2d 483, 493, 145 P.3d 1196 (2006) (citation omitted).

> (1) <u>This Court Should Review Whether a Spouse's</u> <u>Health and Other Non-Financial Circumstances Are</u> <u>Circumstances that a Trial Court Must Consider</u> <u>When Deciding Whether to Modify Spousal</u> <u>Maintenance</u>

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) to bring the Court of Appeals' conflicting interpretations of the modification statute into alignment with *Washburn* and with the Legislature's liberalization of spousal maintenance.

> (a) <u>Division I Narrowed Spousal Maintenance to</u> <u>a Tool Only for Meeting a Spouse's Bare</u> <u>Financial Needs, Contrary to Washburn</u>

A survey of Washington alimony law's history shows the conflict between Division I's narrow conception of spousal maintenance and this Court's broad view of it in *Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 168. Washington once had a "strong public policy" holding that "a wife is *not* entitled to support when she has no *need* for the support." *Holloway v. Holloway*, 69 Wn.2d 243, 252, 417 P.2d 961 (1966) (collecting cases) (emphasis added). The term "need" meant *financial* need—the bare requirements for subsistence. For example, in *Baker v. Baker*, 80 Wn.2d 736, 498 P.2d 315 (1972), the trial court properly awarded alimony because the wife had "*financial* need for additional support until such time as she can be trained for future employment." *Id.* at 745 (emphasis added). By contrast, in *Holloway*, the wife had no "need" because "she was working and supporting herself." 69 Wn.2d at 253-54 (emphasis added).

In line with this once-strong policy, the recipient spouse had to show a change in financial need when seeking an increase in alimony. *E.g.*, *Gordon v. Gordon*, 44 Wn.2d 222, 226-227, 266 P.2d 786 (1954). Even if the payor spouse's income skyrocketed, no modification could lie without an increase in the recipient's financial need. *Id.* The recipient spouse also had to show that "there is no other practicable way of meeting the financial problem." *Id. at 227.* A difference in standards of living did not justify a modification: "A former wife may not obtain additional alimony on the theory that such is in keeping with her former husband's present station in life." *Id.* at 228. But Washington law later changed.

In 1973, the Legislature enacted the Dissolution Act, overhauling Washington's divorce laws. See Laws of 1973, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 157. The Legislature liberalized maintenance, allowing trial courts to order it whenever it would be "just" in view of "all relevant factors," including seven factors defined by statute. Id. § 9(1), (1)(a)-(f), codified at RCW 26.09.090(1), (1)(a)-(f). These factors included non-financial considerations, such as the age and health of the spouse who seeks maintenance. *Id.* § 9(1)(e), *codified at* RCW 26.09.090(1)(e). In a repudiation of Gordon, 44 Wn.2d at 228, which had admonished that maintenance is not a method for equalizing standards of living, the Legislature directed the courts to consider "[t]he standard of living established during the marriage." Id. § 9(1)(c), codified at RCW 26.09.090(1)(c). These factors are non-exclusive; the trial court may also consider relevant non-statutory factors. *In re Marriage of Khan*, 182 Wn. App. 795, 800, 332 P.3d 1016, 1018 (2014). The maintenance statute's factors remain unchanged. *Compare* Laws of 1973, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 157, § 9, *with* RCW 26.09.090.

After these reforms, *Washburn* surveyed the new maintenance statute and concluded that "maintenance is not just a means of providing bare necessities." 101 Wn.2d at 179. Instead, the statute featured "extremely flexible provisions." *Id.* This realization in *Washburn* marked a sea change from the "strong policy" of old. Maintenance transformed into "a flexible tool by which the parties' standard of living may be equalized for an appropriate period of time." *Id.* The Legislature's new multifaceted framework for maintenance meant that "a demonstrated capacity of self-support does not automatically preclude an award of maintenance." *Id.* at 178. Thus, the restrictions in *Gordon* and other cases were no more.

Division I's decision conflicts with this interpretation of

RCW 26.09.090 in *Washburn*. Despite Austin citing *Washburn*, Division I did not explain how its decision squared with it. Perhaps Division I assumed that *Washburn* was limited to the initial award of maintenance, while this case came on review of a modification order. But Division I did not say so, and there is no principled reason to treat the circumstances for modification as narrower than those for the initial award.

Rather than reconcile with the modern conception of spousal maintenance, Division I relied on the outdated notion of alimony hinging on the recipient spouse's basic "necessities." This legal error stems from Division I not only ignoring *Washburn*, but also relying on older Court of Appeals opinions that committed the same oversight. *See* Op. at 11 (citing *Fox v. Fox*, 87 Wn. App. 782, 784, 942 P.2d 1084 (1997); *In re Marriage of Ochsner*, 47 Wn. App. 520, 524-25, 736 P.2d 292 (1987)). In *Fox*, the Court stated that "the phrase 'substantial change of circumstances' refers to the financial ability of the obligor to pay vis-à-vis the needs of the recipient." 87 Wn. App.

at 784 (citing *Ochsner*, 47 Wn. App. at 524). But the *Fox* Court considered neither *Washburn* nor the 1973 legislative reforms, relying instead on *Ochsner*. Which was a problem: *Ochsner* did not analyze *Washburn* or RCW 26.09.090 either. Instead, *Ochsner* cited a case from 80 years ago that said, "the change of circumstances contemplated has reference, as in the first instance, to the financial ability of the husband to pay and the necessities of the wife." *Bartow v. Bartow*, 12 Wn.2d 408, 412, 121 P.2d 962 (1942). Thus, the outdated conception of alimony hinging on financial need—a notion that the Legislature killed off, as *Washburn* recognizes—continues to persist, like a zombie, in Court of Appeals opinions.

It is time for this Court to grant review of a spousalmaintenance case to clarify that bare "financial need" is no longer the predicate for a maintenance order, whether it be the initial award or a modification order. Even if a generous property award or an initial maintenance award meets a spouse's subsistence-level financial needs, as Grieben contended here, that spouse's quality of life and her standard of living crater (thanks to physical disability and skyrocketing expenses) when her health unexpectedly fails. But Division I's opinion, like the pre-1973 principles that inform it, fails to see that the maintenance and modification statutes work together to assist a spouse in that predicament. The Court of Appeals needs this Court's instruction to stop relying on the antiquated notions of alimony that predated the Dissolution Act of 1973.

## (b) <u>Division I's Decision Conflicts with the Plain</u> Language of RCW 26.09.170

This Court's cases on statutory interpretation also justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Division I performed no analysis of the statute's words, despite Austin's briefing on the topic. *Compare* Op. at 1-19; *with* Br. of Appellant at 21, 23-24; *and* Reply Br. at 15-18. Instead, Division I relied only on the Court of Appeals' older decisions in *Fox* and *Ochsner*, as discussed above. That extratextual interpretation of RCW 26.09.170(1) conflicts with the plain-language rule for interpreting statutes. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1); *Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit*  Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC, 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) (reaffirming that a statute's "plain language is "the bedrock principle of statutory interpretation").

In particular, the dictionary definition of "circumstances" exposes Division I's interpretive error. The Legislature has not defined "circumstances" in RCW 26.09.170. See RCW 26.09.004 (definitions section). "When no statutory definition is provided, words in a statute should be given their common meaning, which may be determined by referring to a dictionary." Dahl-Smyth, Inc. v. City of Walla Walla, 148 Wn.2d 835, 842-43, 64 P.3d 15 (2003). One definition of "circumstance" is "a condition, fact, or event ... determining another: an essential or inevitable concomitant." Circumstance, Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 225 (11th ed. 2014). Another definition is "[a]n accompanying or accessory fact, event, or condition ...." Circumstance, Black's Law Dictionary 306 (11th ed. 2019). Under these definitions, the common meaning of "circumstance" allows only one reasonable reading of RCW 26.09.170(1). That is, a trial court must look at the conditions and facts essential to the initial maintenance award. Put another way, "all the relevant factors," RCW 26.09.090(1), are the "circumstances" to consider.

This interpretation makes logical sense. A court cannot determine whether a "change" has occurred unless it has an accurate reference point. Without comparing the present with the circumstances that the trial court had to consider at the time of the original decree, the court cannot determine whether the newly presented facts were "contemplated at the time the original order of support was entered." *In re Marriage of Scanlon & Witrak*, 109 Wn. App. 167, 34 P.3d 877 (2001).

But Division I's opinion tells trial courts to ignore all the changes to the circumstances that were once relevant to the maintenance award, except the recipient's basic financial necessities and the obligor's ability to pay. That construction of RCW 26.09.170(1) violates the interpretive rule against reading things into a statute that are not there. *Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158

Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155 (2006) (citation omitted). And it fails to harmonize with RCW 26.09.090 and the Legislature's purposes for maintenance. *See Credit Suisse*, 194 Wn.2d at 258-59, 262 ("related sections," "purpose"). Review is warranted.

#### (c) <u>Confusion Reigns in the Lower Courts</u>

Division I's narrowing of the grounds for maintenance also creates a rift within the Court of Appeals' own decisions, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). In Scholl, Division II stated that "[t]o modify a maintenance obligation, the court considers the nonexclusive factors RCW same in 26.09.090(1)(a)-(f) that apply to the determination of an initial maintenance obligation." 2020 1930215 at \*4. With that legal framework, Division II reviewed the trial court's order to determine whether it properly considered RCW 26.09.090(1)(f) when deciding a modification request. Division II concluded it had. Scholl, 2020 WL 1930215 at \*4-5.

While *Scholl* and Division I's opinion here were unpublished, their divergence underscores the need for review.

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