FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/15/2022 1:26 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### No. 101359-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

#### SCOTT LEE GRIEBEN,

#### Respondent,

#### and

### SHAWN SUZANNE AUSTIN,

#### Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

# CONNOLLY TACON & MESERVE

By: Christina A. Meserve WSBA No. 8748 By: Catherine W. Smith

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

WSBA No. 9542 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

201 5th Ave SW, Suite 301 Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 943-6747 1619 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

#

#### A. Introduction.

Shawn Austin's petition for review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion, which affirmed the trial court's denial of her petition to modify maintenance, continues her campaign to relitigate the parties' settlement and obtain a perpetual lien on the earnings of her exhusband, respondent Scott Grieben, seven years after their divorce. Division I's recognition that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding petitioner had not proven a substantial change in circumstance that could justify modifying maintenance under RCW 26.09.170 comports with the statutes governing both maintenance and modification, conflicts with no case law, and raises no grounds for further review in this Court under RAP 13.4(b).

#### **B.** Restatement of Facts.

Stripped of petitioner's rancorous hyperbole, the relevant facts are accurately summarized below:

# 1. In 2014, the parties agreed to a disproportionate property division and 7 years of maintenance for the wife.

Respondent Scott Grieben and petitioner Shawn Austin married in 1991. (CP 12) Their younger son was age 17 and their older son was an adult attending college when they separated and Mr. Grieben filed a petition for dissolution in 2013. (CP 1, 82, 153) Mr. Grieben's business income had averaged \$598,244 in the three years leading up to the parties' divorce in December 2014 (CP 140), and for the 15 months the dissolution action was pending he paid undifferentiated maintenance and child support of \$10,000 (subsequently increased to \$12,000) per month and all the adult son's educational costs. (CP 96, 100, 179)

Maintenance for Ms. Austin was a major issue in the dissolution action. (*See* CP 59-60, 81-83, 95-96, 100, 105-08) Ms. Austin, then age 52, had not worked outside the home since 1993 (CP 1445-47), and argued she should not be expected to work after the divorce and that her medical

conditions<sup>1</sup> severely limited "the types of training and work she can perform." (CP 1456)<sup>2</sup>

With Ms. Austin's issues in mind, the parties settled after a day-long mediation in late 2014. (CP 121-22) They agreed to split the proceeds from the sale of the family home, and agreed that Ms. Austin was entitled to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The vocational assessment Ms. Austin relied upon summarized the significant health issues that impacted her ability to find remunerative employment (*See* CP 52, 1446-56), including an immune disorder that caused, and made her susceptible to, "mini strokes," hearing loss in both ears, "inner ear damage that resulted in severe balance issues," "chronic visual migraines," "Manic/Depressive Disorder," "symptoms of Attention Deficit Disorder," "bilateral Carpal Tunnel Syndrome," and "advanced degenerative disc disease (arthritis) in the cervical spine as well as the lumbar spine." (CP 1447-49)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Austin's vocational consultant believed that if she were to work after divorce, she would require training "to be competitively employable in any suitable occupation" (CP 1453), and recommended that any employment be with a large employer mandated to provide Family Medical Leave because of her "various medical issues that impact her ability to work" (CP 1453), and "should limit walking and standing on uneven grounds" (CP 1448), "not require a high degree of social interactions" (CP 1448), and not be "highly repetitive in nature." (CP 1449)

disproportionate portion of the marital estate, the parties' only retirement account, and all their investment accounts (CP 7, 143), totaling well over \$1,000,000. (CP 140) Mr. Grieben's property award consisted almost entirely of his interest in his separate business, and the parties' interest in the community business. (*See* CP 6-8, 140, 169)

In addition to a disproportionate property award and \$374,000 denominated as "additional spousal maintenance" (CP 7-8, 140), the parties agreed that Mr. Grieben would also pay Ms. Austin a total of \$625,200 in monthly maintenance over seven years, commencing November 2014. (CP 8, 139) By the time her maintenance terminated in November 2021, Ms. Austin would be almost 60, and Mr. Grieben—who had his own health issues (CP 83, 207)—would be almost 64. (*See* CP 1, 8) Mr. Grieben also agreed to pay 100% of the post-secondary and personal expenses of their adult sons (*see* CP 9, 153); the older son, who is on the Autism spectrum, did not graduate from college until 2019. (CP 153)

#### 2. In 2020, the wife petitioned to modify maintenance, claiming the parties' income "should be equalized for the rest of our lives."

Fifteen months before the parties had agreed maintenance was to terminate, Ms. Austin sought to modify maintenance, asking the trial court to "modify the current spousal maintenance award such that Mr. Grieben's and my income are equalized for the rest of our lives." (CP 130)

Ms. Austin alleged that her "numerous health issues [] have either worsened considerably since the date of the decree or [] have arisen since the date of the decree, which prevent me from obtaining or maintaining meaningful employment." (CP 36-37) Ms. Austin also alleged that she "believe[d] that Scott's financial situation has improved considerably since the date of the decree, despite the expectation at the time the decree was entered that his income would *decline* considerably." (CP 37, emphasis in original)

Mr. Grieben moved to dismiss (CP 138), asserting the parties had expected that after maintenance terminated Ms. Austin would live off the assets she was awarded from the disproportionate division of their marital estate, and denying Ms. Austin's assertion that the parties ever expected her to be fully employed. (CP 154) To the contrary, after the divorce Ms. Austin had neither obtained training, sought employment, or been employed, except for a few weeks in 2019 when she worked "9-10 hours a week." (CP 37) Mr. Grieben also pointed out that, far from "improv[ing] considerably," his average 3-year income was down from \$598,244 in 2014 to \$457,302 in 2019. (CP 140)

Mr. Grieben also questioned Ms. Austin's need for continued maintenance. In 2018, she had liquidated assets valued at \$1,782,110 (CP 122, 154)—more than the value of property she had been awarded in 2014 (CP 140, 169) including nearly \$1 million held with Merrill Lynch and likely income-producing. (*See* CP 154, 270) Ms. Austin's July 2020 financial declaration revealed that even after liquidating almost \$1.8 million in assets, she still had \$939,446.10 in "stocks, bonds, CDs, and other liquid financial accounts" (CP 115), and she had recently purchased a condominium, free and clear, with a value of \$750,878. (CP 154, 170)

# 3. Division I affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the wife's modification petition in an unpublished opinion.

Thurston County Superior Court Judge Christine Schaller ("the trial court") dismissed Ms. Austin's petition because she failed to show a substantial change in circumstances to warrant modifying spousal maintenance; that is, a change "not contemplated by the parties at the time that the order was entered . . . either in the financial needs of the recipient or the financial ability of the obligor, and any change has to be one that is continuing and not something that is a shorter transitory change." (12/4/2020RP 20) Division I affirmed in an unpublished opinion.

Division I held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that "Grieben's income did not constitute a substantial change of circumstances" because substantial evidence supported its finding that Mr. Grieben's "income has not increased to any degree that would be considered a substantial change in circumstances, and in fact it does not appear that it has increased really one way or the other." (Op. 14)

Division I also rejected Ms. Austin's argument that there has been a substantial change as it relates to her financial needs, because substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that "Austin had significant health conditions at the time the parties separated and divorced, and anyone who wouldn't contemplate that their medical conditions might get worse and not better, that doesn't seem realistic, especially since some of these things had been chronic or things that she had been dealing with for a significant period of time." (Op. 15-16) Division I noted that while petitioner's "health may have worsened since the decree, it did not substantially change the circumstance related to the anticipated challenges she would face trying to find employment. Austin presented this concern in 2014 and the parties came to agreement when maintenance was ordered." (Op. 18)

C. This Court should deny review because statutory and case law have long required that the moving party must first establish a substantial change in circumstances warranting modification of maintenance.

As she did in the lower courts, petitioner conflates the standards for deciding if maintenance may be modified under RCW 26.09.170 with those governing how maintenance should be modified, and in what amount and duration, under RCW 26.09.090, contrary to statutory and case law. Her petition presents no issue for further review in this Court.

RCW 26.09.170 was enacted in 1973 containing the provision that it still contains today, and on which Division I relied in affirming the trial court's dismissal: a maintenance award may be modified "only upon a showing a substantial change of circumstances." RCW of 26.09.170(1) (Op. 14-19). RCW 26.09.170 superseded an earlier statute that provided maintenance "may be modified by the court from time to time as circumstances may require," and incorporated the "judicial overlav" to that earlier statute "allowing modification 'only upon a showing of a substantial change of circumstances." Wagner v. Wagner, 95 Wn.2d 94, 98, n.1, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980). As this Court explained (and confirmed) in Wagner, requiring a showing of a substantial change in circumstance before a trial court may modify maintenance prevents "an unwarranted invitation to continue litigation" that would allow "a later judge to radically change a carefully drawn agreement" "even if the circumstances were the same as the day the final agreement was signed." 95 Wn.2d at 99-100.

The law remains unchanged. In particular, Division I's unpublished opinion does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Washburn v. Washburn*, 101 Wn.2d 168, 677 P.2d 152 (1984) (Petition 11), where the issue was whether the trial court should *award* maintenance in the first instance, rather than whether to *modify* an agreed maintenance award. As Division I noted, whether "the final dissolution 'equalized' the parties is of no matter in this appeal. The only question before us is if the trial court, based on this record, abused its discretion in concluding that Austin did not establish a substantial change of circumstances to warrant a modification of maintenance." (Op. 19)

Petitioner complains that Division I ignored Washburn in favor of the "older Court of Appeals opinions" Fox v. Fox, 87 Wn. App. 782, 942 P.2d 1084 (1997) and Marriage of Ochsner, 47 Wn. App. 520, 736 P.2d 292 (1987), rev. denied, 108 Wn.2d 1027 (1987) (Petition 15). Although petitioner's claim that neither *Fox* nor *Ochsner* considered the "1973 legislative reforms" (Petition 16-17) is particularly misplaced because both cases were not only decided after enactment of the 1973 Dissolution Act, but after Washburn, Division I properly relied on these decisions because, unlike Washburn, they both address modification of a maintenance award, not an initial award of maintenance. (See Op. 15)

Division I's opinion that the "change of circumstances" in RCW 26.09.170 "refers to the financial ability of the obligor to pay vis-à-vis the needs of recipient" (Op. 11) also does not justify further review by this Court. (Petition 17) Division I's interpretation of RCW 26.09.170 in its unpublished opinion is wholly consistent with published decisions from all three Divisions of the Court of Appeals. *See Fox,* 87 Wn. App. at 784 (Div. I); *Spreen v. Spreen,* 107 Wn. App. 341, 346, 28 P.3d 769 (Div. II 2001)<sup>3</sup>; *Marriage of Coyle,* 61 Wn. App. 653, 658, 811 P.2d 244 (Div. III), *rev. denied,* 117 Wn.2d 1017 (1991). There is no "confusion" in the lower courts (Petition 20) as to the proper standard for modifying maintenance.

Absent "changed conditions which could not have been anticipated, it is not the office of a petition for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Division II's unpublished opinion in *Marriage of* Scholl, No. 52756-1-II, 2020 WL 1930215 at \*2, \*4 (April 21, 2020) (Petition 20) (cited per GR 14.1) does not raise grounds for further review. Notwithstanding RAP 13.4(b)(2) requires a claimed conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, the unpublished opinions in *Scholl* and this case are also wholly consistent. In *Scholl*, Division II rejected the wife's appeal of an order reducing husband's maintenance obligation after the first addressing the wife's challenge to the trial court's finding of a substantial change in circumstances. Like Division I, Division II held "the phrase 'change in circumstances' refers to the financial ability of the obligor spouse to pay vis-à-vis the necessities of the other spouse." 2020 WL 1930215 at \*2 (quoting Ochsner, 47 Wn. App. at 524).

modification to rewrite the agreement of the parties relative to an alimony award." *Crosetto v. Crosetto*, 65 Wn.2d 366, 368, 397 P.2d 418 (1964). If, as petitioner claims, the "change of circumstances" under RCW 26.09.170 required exhaustive consideration of the factors for an award of maintenance under RCW 26.09.090, and that as a consequence "a trial court must look at the conditions and facts essential to the initial maintenance award" (Petition 18-20), *every* maintenance award, whether entered by agreement or after trial, would be subjected to de novo review whenever a party sought to modify maintenance. This is not, and should not be, the law.

The courts below properly rejected petitioner's bid to modify maintenance for what it was—an attempt to renegotiate the settlement the parties had reached in 2014 resolving the issues arising from the dissolution of their marriage. Division I's unpublished opinion is wholly consistent with the strong policy in favor of finally resolving the spouses' obligations to one another when a decree of dissolution is entered. *See Marriage of Landry*, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809, 699 P.2d 214 (1985).

For the same reason, petitioner's assertion that a court "could only determine what the parties contemplated if it was expressly stated in the dissolution court's finding of fact" (Petition 10, 23-28) is no grounds for further review. None of the cases cited support petitioner's argument that Division I's unpublished opinion warrants further review (Petition 28), as each addresses the trial court's obligation in the first instance to make findings that support a *litigated* decision in a family law case.

The requirement petitioner proposes is not only unsupported by the case law. It would place a significant, and unwarranted, burden not only on parties who agree to decrees containing a maintenance award, but on trial courts making maintenance awards in the first instance. That neither the parties, nor a trial court, possess a crystal ball to precisely foretell the futures of divorcing spouses is not grounds for modification. Petitioner's argument that a trial court must make predictive (and perfectly prescient) "findings" of the parties' anticipated circumstances whenever maintenance is agreed or awarded, made with no statutory or case law authority, does not warrant consideration in this Court.

#### D. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review of Division I's unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's discretionary decision finding petitioner had not shown a substantial change of circumstances justifying modification of the parties' agreed 7-year maintenance award.

16

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font

and contains 2,518 words, in compliance with the Rules of

Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).